
 
 
BY E-MAIL AND US MAIL 
 
April 4, 2025 
 
Sonoma County Board of Supervisors 
Chair Lynda Hopkins 
Vice-Chair Rebecca Hermosillo, Honorable Board Members Chris Coursey, James Gore 
and David Rabbitt 
M. Christina Rivera, County Executive Officer 
Robert Pittman, County Counsel 
575 Administration, Room 100A 
Santa Rosa, CA 95403 
bos@sonoma-county.org. 
 
Tennis Wick, Director 
Permit Sonoma 
2550 Ventura Ave. 
Santa Rosa, CA  95403 
tennis.wick@sonoma-county.org 
 
 RE:  Sonoma Development Center 
  5-Hearing Rule 
 
 
Dear Chair Hopkins, Vice-Chair Hermosillo, Honorable Board Members Coursey, Gore 
and Rabbitt, Executive Officer M. Christina Rivera, County Counsel Robert Pittman, and 
Director Wick: 
 

We write on behalf of Sonoma Community Advocates for a Liveable Environment 
(“SCALE”), an association of Sonoma County citizens concerned about future 
development of the Sonoma Development Center (“SDC”) and the current proposal to 
construct a 990-unit mixed-use development (“SDC Project”) at the site, located at 15000 
Arnold Drive, Eldridge, CA (APN: 054-090-001, 054-150-005, 054-150—010). SCALE is 
composed of multiple community groups working throughout the Sonoma Valley that are 
committed to a “scalable” development plan that supports affordable housing but does not 
expose people to dangerous public safety risks and destroy the wildlife corridor and 
historic sites, and have other severe environmental impacts.  In particular, SCALE 
disagrees with Permit Sonoma’s interpretation of the so-called “Five-Hearing Rule” set 
forth in SB 330, and codified in the Housing Accountability Act (“HAA”).  (Gov. Code 
sections 65589.5; 65905.5).  
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The Five-Hearing Rule limits the public agency to no more than five hearings on 
certain residential projects.  As discussed below, the Five-Hearing rule does not currently 
apply to the SDC Project. 

 
In an electronic mail message dated February 18, 2025 from Director Wick to Mr. 

Bean Anderson, Mr. Wick stated that the County’s elected and appointed officials: 
 
“cannot participate in meetings where development proposals are discussed 
without having to possibly recuse themselves from future consideration of the 
projects in public hearings.  Also, under State rules, commonly referred to as 
SB330, public meetings on housing projects are limited to five… As a result, 
officials and staff must be judicious in which meetings we attend.”   
 
First, it is necessary to clarify whether the County is undertaking a specific plan 

proceeding or an SB 330 proceeding. The Board of Supervisors declined to terminate the 
specific plan proceeding for the Project as the Staff had proposed. The Superior Court’s 
writ return in the case of SCALE v. Co. of Sonoma, Sonoma Co. Superior Court Case No. 
SCV-272539, contemplates a revised specific plan. If the County is proceeding to prepare 
a revised specific plan, then the Five-Hearing Rule of SB 330 does not apply at all.  
Government Code section 65905.5(b)(2) last sentence distinguishes project hearings 
from legislative hearing associated with specific plans. That provision states: 

 
“Hearing” does not include a hearing to review a legislative approval, including any 
appeal, required for a proposed housing development project, including, but not 
limited to, a general plan amendment, a specific plan adoption or amendment, 
or a zoning amendment, or any hearing arising from a timely appeal of the 
approval or disapproval of a legislative approval. (Government Code section 
65905.5(b)(2) (emphasis added).) 
 

The SDC proceeding appears to be a Specific Plan broader proceeding. Therefore, under 
the plain language of SB 330, the Five-Hearing Rule does not apply to deprive the public 
the opportunity for broader participation without specific hearing day limits.  

 
Second, Director Wick contends that public officials may have to recuse 

themselves if they attend meetings where development proposals are discussed.  Public 
officials may attend community meetings, individual “lobby” meetings, and other public 
events to discuss proposed projects.  Such activities are within the protected first 
amendment right to petition the government.  (Stromberg v. People of State of Cal. (1931) 
283 U.S. 359, 369; Inst. of Governmental Advocs. v. Younger (1977) 70 Cal. App. 3d 878, 
880; Lillebo v. Davis (1990) 222 Cal. App. 3d 1421, 1443.) The only exception to the rule 
allowing citizens to petition their governmental officials is when an official has “clearly 
advocated a position [for or] against the project.” (Nasha v. City of Los Angeles (2004) 
125 Cal. App. 4th 470, 484.)  In such as case, the official must be recused.  The public 
has a First Amendment right to meet with their governmental officials to discuss proposed 
projects. Sonoma County addresses any concerns related to bias by requiring Board 
Members to disclose any contacts prior to their deliberations.   
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Third, Director Wick suggests that public officials may violate the Five-Hearing rule 
if they meet with their constituents or attend community meetings concerning proposed 
projects.  This is incorrect. SB 330 defines “hearing” as follows: 

 
"Hearing" includes any public hearing, workshop, or similar meeting, including any 
appeal, conducted by the city or county with respect to the housing 
development project, including any meeting relating to Section 65915, whether by 
the legislative body of the city or county, the planning agency established pursuant 
to Section 65100, or any other agency, department, board, commission, or any 
other designated hearing officer or body of the city or county, or any committee or 
subcommittee thereof. (Gov. Code section 65095.5(b)(2) (emphasis added).) 

 
Thus, “hearing” within the meaning of SB 330 encompasses only formal hearings 
“conducted by the city or county.” It does not include meetings organized by community 
groups, or individual lobbying visits.   
 
 Fourth, the Five-Hearing Rule does not even begin to apply until after the CEQA 
EIR is certified – which obviously has not yet occurred.  This is because SB 330 has an 
express savings clause requiring full compliance with the California Environmental Quality 
Act (“CEQA”).  As a result, the courts have held that CEQA review must be completed 
before the time limits of the HAA and SB 330 begin to apply.   
 

Subdivision (d) of SB330 states “Nothing in this section supersedes, limits, or 
otherwise modifies the requirements of, or the standards of review pursuant to, Division 
13 . . . of the Public Resources Code,” or CEQA. (Gov. Code, § 65905.5(d).) CEQA does 
not require lead agencies to certify an EIR within five hearings. Rather, the law requires 
an agency—prior to approving a project that requires an EIR—to certify that the agency 
completed the EIR in compliance with CEQA. (Pub. Resources Code, § 21151(a); 14 Cal. 
Code Regs., § 15090(a)(1); Schellinger, supra, 179 Cal.App.4th at 1258 [“It is only after 
the final EIR is certified that the project can be approved.”].)  Specifically, the Schellinger 
court found that “just like the Permit Streamlining Act, the Housing Accountability Act has 
no provision automatically approving EIRs if local action is not completed within a 
specified period.” (Schellinger, supra, 179 Cal.App.4th at 1262 [finding “there is no 
indication the Legislature meant to modify or accelerate CEQA’s procedures”].) Therefore, 
and as this Court has already determined, “The HAA does not relieve the local agency of 
complying with CEQA.”  The time periods set forth in the HAA apply only after certification 
of the EIR.  The Schellinger court recognized that it is often impossible to complete the 
CEQA process in less than five hearings.  Since the HAA has an express CEQA savings 
clause, the only way to harmonize the HAA with CEQA is to construe the two statutes 
such as the time limits in the HAA do not begin until CEQA review is completed.  Since 
the County has not certified an EIR for the SDC Project, the time limits of the HAA and SB 
330 have not commenced.  The Schellinger court stated: 

 
the Housing Accountability Act has no provision automatically approving EIRs if 
local action is not completed within a specified period… there is no indication the 
Legislature meant to modify or accelerate CEQA's procedures… Again, the 
indications are to the contrary. The Housing Accountability Act expressly states 
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that “Nothing in this section shall be construed ... to relieve the local agency from 
making one or more of the findings required pursuant to Section 21081... or 
otherwise complying with the California Environmental Quality Act....” (Gov.Code, § 
65589.5, subd. (e).) But it specifically pegs its applicability to the approval, denial 
or conditional approval of a “housing development project” (id., subds. (d)(3), 
(5)(A), (h)(5)(A), (i), (k), (l )), which, as previously noted, can occur only after the 
EIR is certified. (CEQA Guidelines, § 15090(a).) That obviously has not occurred 
here. 

The Schellinger case makes clear that the County retains its full powers under CEQA 
despite the HAA, and that the proposed project may not be approved until after CEQA 
review and any findings are completed. Since the CEQA document has not been certified 
(or even released), the timelines of the HAA do not even begin to commence until after 
CEQA review is completed. Also, The HAA defines “disapproval” of a housing project to 
include failure to comply with the time periods set forth in the Permit Streamlining Act, 
Gov. Code section 65950(a). (Gov. Code section 65589.5(h)(6)(B).)  Under Gov. Code 
section 65950(a) the time period for approving or disapproving a project (e.g., 90 days) 
runs from "the date of certification by the lead agency of the environmental impact report." 
The Five Hearing Rule logically applies in that approval/disapproval processing period for 
the project application.   

Attached hereto is the decision of the San Francisco Superior Court in the case of 
Yes in My Backyard v. San Francisco, CPF-22-517661, holding that the Five-Hearing 
Rule does not commence until after the completion of CEQA review. See also, Durkin v. 
City and Co. of San Francisco, 90 Cal.App.5th 643, 650 (2023) (Court noting that CCSF 
concurred with the position on the merits that Govt Code section 65905.5 exempts CEQA 
actions from the five-hearing limit.) 

The county should comply with the law to ensure that decision makers are allowed 
full public input on this important project.  

Sincerely, 

Richard Toshiyuki Drury 
LOZEAU DRURY LLP 


























